SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DEC 1 0 2013

No. S212072 Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CALIFORNIA BUILDING INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF SAN JOSE,

Respondent.

AFFORDABLE HOUSING NETWORK OF SANTA CLARA COUNTY, et al.,

Intervenors.

After an Opinion by the Court of Appeal, Sixth Appellate District (Case No. H038563)

On Appeal from the Superior Court of Santa Clara County (Case No. CV167289, Honorable Socrates Manoukian, Judge)

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

DAVID P. LANFERMAN,

No. 71593

Rutan & Tucker, LLP

Five Palo Alto Square

3000 El Camino Real, Suite 200

Palo Alto, CA 94306-9814 Telephone: (650) 320-1507

QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Must inclusionary housing ordinances which exact property interests or in-lieu development fees as a condition of development permit approval be reasonably related to the deleterious impact of the development on which they are imposed, as set forth in *San Remo Hotel L.P. v. City & County of San Francisco*, 27 Cal. 4th 643, 670 (2002)?

INTRODUCTION

The answer to the question presented is yes; the court below erred in holding otherwise. This Court should reverse the court below and affirm the judgment of the trial court.

The City of San Jose (City or San Jose) faces a significant shortage of housing that is affordable to moderate and low-income households. The City has identified a range of potential funding sources to increase its existing stock of affordable housing, most of which involve generally applicable taxes. Appellants' Appendix (AA) 1214-1217 (Attachment C, listing "Potential Revenue Sources," to November 19, 2008 Memorandum from San Jose Director of Housing Leslye Krutko to San Jose Community and Economic Development Committee).

Rather than pursuing these sources of funding to increase its stock of affordable housing, the City shifted the responsibility for meeting that public need to a limited subgroup of property owners. The City did so by enacting

its Inclusionary Housing Ordinance, No. 28689, San Jose Municipal Code Chapter 5.08 (Ordinance), in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article One, Section Nineteen of the California Constitution. One of the principal purposes of the Takings Clause is "to bar Government from forcing some people alone to bear public burdens which, in all fairness and justice, should be borne by the public as a whole." Armstrong v. United States, 364 U.S. 40, 49 (1960); see San Remo Hotel, 27 Cal. 4th at 664 (claims under California Constitution's takings clause analyzed under relevant decisions of this Court and those of United States Supreme Court applying United States Constitution's Takings Clause). At times when limited general tax revenues compete for important public purposes, local governments face the temptation to shift those public burdens onto individual property owners who can be leveraged through permitting processes to meet the public need, even when the property owners' projects do not proximately cause such existing needs. It is most urgent in just these situations that the courts enforce the constitutional ban on development exactions that do not cure impacts proximately caused by the projects on which they are imposed.

The Ordinance is an inclusionary housing law, a type of development exaction in which local governments require new home builders, as a condition

of development permit approval, to set aside a specified percentage¹ of the homes they build from the general market, and instead sell or rent those homes at defined prices to renters or buyers whose eligibility is based on their income relative to an index, usually Area Median Income (AMI). Typically, buyers and renters with incomes at or below specified percentages of AMI are eligible to buy or rent the set-aside homes. See generally Adam F. Cray, The Use of Residential Nexus Analysis in Support of California's Inclusionary Housing Ordinances: A Critical Evaluation, Goldman School of Public Policy, University of California, Berkeley, Nov. 2011, at 4.2 While many different local government policies encourage or assist the development of affordable housing, the specific purpose of inclusionary housing laws is to increase the supply of affordable housing without public subsidies. See Daniel R. Mandelker, The Effects of Inclusionary Zoning on Local Housing Markets: Lessons from the San Francisco, Washington D.C. and Suburban Boston Areas, A.L.I.-A.B.A. Land Use Inst., Mar. 2008, at 2 (inclusionary housing

¹ The set-aside percentage varies among different local governments who impose these exactions. In the San Francisco Bay Area, where these exactions are fairly common, the set asides range from 10% to as high as 50% in Cupertino. AA 1223 (Attachment D1-B, "Survey of Inclusionary Housing Ordinances in Santa Clara County" to November 19, 2008 Memorandum from Leslye Krutko to San Jose Community and Economic Development Committee).

² Available at http://urbanpolicy.berkeley.edu/pdf/Cray.Nov11.pdf (last visited Dec. 4, 2013).

"requires less direct public subsidy than traditional affordable housing programs").³ Inclusionary housing laws accomplish this purpose by shifting the burden of providing affordable housing from the public generally to specific property owners who seek development permits to build new homes.

In order to retain the resulting supply of privately subsidized affordable housing, inclusionary housing laws generally impose long-term limitations on the re-sale and re-rental of the affordable homes. *See generally* Rick Jacobus & Jeffrey Lubell, *Preservation of Affordable Homeownership: A Continuum of Strategies,* Center for Housing Policy, Apr. 2007, at 5-7.⁴ These restrictions typically remain in effect for decades. *See, e.g., Affordable by Choice*, Non-Profit Housing Association of Northern California, 2007, at 27, Table 6 (listing length of continuing affordability requirements for various California jurisdictions).⁵

Inclusionary housing laws frequently require developers to choose among a menu of alternative exactions. These can include providing the affordable homes outside of the development (by building them elsewhere,

³ Available at http://www.nhc.org/media/documents/IZ_in_SF,_DC,_Boston.pdf?phpMyAdmin=d3a4afe4e37aae985c684e22d8f65929 (last visited Dec. 4, 2013).

⁴ Available at http://www.nhc.org/media/documents/Preservation_of_ Affordable_Homeownership2.pdf?phpMyAdmin=d3a4afe4e37aae985c684 e22d8f65929 (last visited Dec. 4, 2013).

⁵ Available at http://www.nonprofithousing.org/pdf_attachments/IHIReport.pdf (last visited Dec. 4, 2013).

buying existing homes and providing them as affordable homes, partnering with nonprofit developers of affordable housing, etc), dedicating land of equal value, and paying an in-lieu fee. Cray, *supra*, at 4; *Affordable By Choice*, *supra*, at 9. These alternatives are properly viewed as an integrated program of exactions, the constitutionality of which should be considered as a whole, rather than as separate impositions that may be considered in isolation from each other. *Palmer/Sixth Street Properties*, *L.P. v. City of Los Angeles*, 175 Cal. App. 4th 1396, 1411 (2009) ("affordable housing requirements and in lieu fee option are inextricably linked"), *see also Koontz v. St. Johns River Water Mgmt. Dist.*, 133 S. Ct. 2586, 2599 (2013) (In-lieu fees "utterly commonplace, and they are functionally equivalent to other types of land use exactions.").

FACTUAL SUMMARY

This case is a facial challenge to the constitutional validity of the Ordinance under the Takings Clauses of the United States and California Constitutions. As such, the relevant facts are the provisions of the Ordinance itself, and the City's record of adoption of the Ordinance. *Tobe v. City of Santa Ana*, 9 Cal. 4th 1069, 1084 (1995) (citing *Dillon v. Mun. Court*, 4 Cal. 3d 860, 865 (1971)); *Shappell Indus., Inc. v. Governing Bd. of Milpitas Unified Sch. Dist.*, 1 Cal. App. 4th 218, 233-34 (1991).

San Jose's Ordinance applies to all new, nonexempt residential housing developments of more than 20 units in San Jose. San Jose Municipal Code

(SJMC) § 5.08.310; AA 0673.6 The Ordinance defines "inclusionary units" as residential units affordable to buyers and renters earning from extremely low up to moderate incomes, SJMC § 5.08.205, AA 0667, and requires that new for-sale developments set aside 15% of their units as inclusionary units, id. § 5.08.400(A)(a), AA 0676. The Ordinance also exacts a 15% affordable set-aside from rental developments, SJMC § 5.08.400(A)(b), AA 0676-77, but the Ordinance suspends these provisions in recognition of the decision in *Palmer/Sixth Street Properties, L.P. v. City of Los Angeles*, 175 Cal. App. 4th 1396 (2009) (Los Angeles affordable housing ordinance pre-empted by vacancy decontrol provisions of Costa-Hawkins Rental Housing Act, Civ. Code § 1954.50, et seq.). The rental provisions of the Ordinance will remain suspended unless the *Palmer/Sixth Street Properties* decision is overturned or abrogated by statutory amendments.⁷

In the alternative to setting aside homes in the permitted development, builders may substitute one or more of the following exactions in combination:

⁶ The Ordinance is codified in the San Jose Municipal Code (SJMC), Title 5, Chapter 5.08. Future section references are to the SJMC, *available at* http://sanjose.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll/California/sanjose_ca/sanjosem unicipalcode?f=templates\$fn=default.htm\$3.0\$vid=amlegal:sanjose_ca). *See also* AA 651-709 (copy of the Ordinance submitted to the trial court below).

⁷ Assembly Bill 1229 (Atkins) of 2013 would have abrogated *Palmer/Sixth Street Properties*, but was vetoed by Governor Brown on October 13, 2013. *Available at* http://gov.ca.gov/docs/AB_1229_2013_Veto_Message.pdf (last visited Dec. 4, 2013).

- (1) Build inclusionary units offsite equal to 20% of the number of market rate units in the development, SJMC § 5.08.510, AA 0687-89.
- (2) Pay an in-lieu fee,⁸ *id.* § 5.08.520(A), AA 0689-92, which City staff calculated would be approximately \$122,000 per inclusionary unit. AA 0944 (Attachment D to October 26, 2009 memorandum from Leslye Krutko to Mayor and City Council, AA 0921-0944.).
- (3) Dedicate land suitable for construction of inclusionary units and whose value is at least that of the applicable in-lieu fee. SJMC § 5.08.530(A), AA 0692-93.
- (4) Purchase credits from another builder. *Id.* § 5.08.540, AA 0694-95.
- (5) Acquire and/or rehabilitate existing units for use as inclusionary units. *Id.* § 5.08.550, AA 0695-97.

The amount of the in-lieu fee is the difference between the median sales price of an attached market rate unit in the prior 36 months and the affordable housing cost for a household of 2½ persons earning no more than 110% of the area median income. SJMC § 5.08.520(B)(1), AA 00689-90.

Inclusionary units are subject to long-term recorded encumbrances that ensure that the homes themselves, or the value of the subsidy provided to the City by way of the exaction, remain part of the City's stock of affordable housing. SJMC § 5.08.600(A), AA 0700-01.

Affordability documents for for-sale owner-occupied inclusionary units shall also include subordinate shared appreciation documents permitting the city to capture at resale the difference between the market rate value of the inclusionary unit and the affordable housing cost, plus a share of appreciation realized from an unrestricted sale in such amounts as deemed necessary by the city to replace the inclusionary unit.

Id., see AA 1250, 1253-55 (November 19, 2008, City staff presentation to San Jose Planning Commission, explaining how shared appreciation mechanism works, and resulting lien on affordable home in favor of City). The long-term affordability restrictions remain in effect for 45 years for forsale homes and 55 years for rental homes. SJMC § 5.08.600(B), AA 0701; see Health & Safety Code § 33413(c)(1)-(2).

The Ordinance also requires the recordation of an Affordable Housing Plan and Agreement against the entire new home development prior to approval of any final or parcel map or issuance of any building permit. SJMC § 5.08.610, AA 0702-05. The Plan and Agreement must identify the manner in which the home builder will comply with the Ordinance, the details of inclusionary units to be provided (including construction and completion schedule), the marketing of inclusionary units and verification of tenant

incomes for rental units, and long-term capital and maintenance funding plans for rental inclusionary units. SJMC § 5.08.610(B), AA 0703-04.

The trial court found no evidence in the record that any of these exactions are reasonably related to any deleterious public impacts of new home building. Order at 6, AA 3353.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiff and Petitioner California Building Industry Association (CBIA) commenced this action by filing its timely Complaint and Petition for Writ of Mandate on March 24, 2010, AA 0001-0074, as a facial challenge to the Ordinance, adopted January 26, 2010, and effective February 26, 2010. AA 0017. The Complaint alleges that the Ordinance violates the standard established in this Court's decision in *San Remo Hotel L.P. v. City & County of San Francisco*, by failing to reasonably relate, in either purpose or amount, to any deleterious impact of new residential development. AA 0010 (Complaint ¶ 27). The Complaint alleges that the City adopted the Ordinance without any evidence in the record of any relationship, reasonable or otherwise, between the exactions imposed by the Ordinance and any adverse impacts of new home building. AA 0007-08 (Complaint ¶¶ 18-19).

On May 9, 2011, the trial court granted leave to intervene to Affordable Housing Network of Santa Clara County, Housing California, California Coalition of Rural Housing, Law Foundation of Silicon Valley, Non-Profit Housing Association of Northern California, The Public Interest Law Project, Southern California Association of Non-Profit Housing, San Diego Housing Federation, and Janel Martinez (Intervenors). AA 0457-58.

The case was tried to the court initially on July 11 and 13, 2013. Reporter's Transcript (RT) 1-98. The evidence at trial consisted of the administrative record of the City's adoption of the Ordinance in four volumes, referred to by the parties as the Stipulated Documents. AA 0740-3110; RT 3-4, 89 (Stipulated Documents offered in evidence). No witnesses testified. CBIA's Opening Trial Brief, filed May 6, 2011 (AA 0306-33), surveys relevant portions of the Stipulated Documents and argues that they contain no evidence of a reasonable relationship between the exactions in the Ordinance and any negative impact of building new homes in San Jose. AA 0316-19 (CBIA's Opening Trial Brief, pp. 6-9). CBIA argued similarly at trial. RT 9-10 (San Jose did not prepare a nexus study to support the Ordinance), 11

⁹ The Stipulated Documents appear in Volumes III through XII of the Appellants' Appendix, AA 0740-3110. An index to the Stipulated Documents appears at AA 0743-53. The Stipulated Documents were identified and page numbered for the trial court from SDI000041through SDI 002473, and the four volumes of the Stipulated Documents correspond to AA 0740-1272 (SDI000041-000549), AA 1273-1899 (SDI000550 - 001157), AA 1900-2469 (SDI001158 - 001845), and AA 2470-3110 (SDI001846-002473).

(feasibility study prepared by San Jose is not a nexus study and does not identify impacts of new residential development on need for or availability of affordable housing), 44 (no evidence in the record to support a finding that exactions are related to impact of new residential development), 80 (other cities have prepared nexus studies to support inclusionary housing ordinances, but San Jose did not).

For their part, the City and Intervenors argued consistently in their trial briefs that the Ordinance does not impose exactions, is not subject to San Remo Hotel, and is a valid exercise of the police power so long as it is reasonably related to the valid public purpose of increasing the supply of affordable housing. AA 0511, 0514-0517, 0521-22 (City's Trial Brief, pp. 17, 20-23, 27-28), AA 0728 - 0737 (Intervenors' Trial Brief, pp. 12-21). The City and Intervenors stayed with this theory of the case throughout trial, specifically and repeatedly arguing that the Ordinance was not intended to mitigate any negative impacts of new home building. RT 19:17-20 (City), 20:2 (counsel for City: "This is not a mitigation fee case."), 24:22-26 (Intervenors), 25:4-7 (Counsel for Intervenors: "[W]hat we're looking at is not whether market rate housing has some sort of deleterious impact on the community but instead whether what the City has proposed is a valid exercise of its police power."), 26:15-19 (Intervenors), 28:27 - 29:3 (Intervenors), 93:15-20 (Intervenors). The City at trial disclaimed any legal obligation to support the Ordinance with

a nexus study. RT 53:10-14, 87:28-88:8 ("Those are required if the requirement is to mitigate an impact on the project. But this ordinance and the one in *Napa*... are not mitigation cases.").

During trial the parties disputed the significance of a consulting report prepared for the City by Rosen and Associates (Rosen Report). CBIA pointed out that the Rosen Study does not establish any negative impacts of new home building on either the need for or supply of affordable housing. Instead, the Rosen Report simply surveys various levels of affordable setasides in neighboring cities' inclusionary housing ordinances, and assesses the economic impact of various set-aside levels on development projects. RT 11:7-13. The City contended that the Rosen Report provided support for its decision to choose 15% as the set aside level in the Ordinance, while similarly characterizing the Rosen Report as a survey of the economic impact of various set aside levels on new home builders. RT 54:14-25.

The case was submitted at the conclusion of the July 13, 2011, hearing, RT 97, but on October 19, 2011, the trial court set the matter for a further hearing on November 7, 2011, in order to take oral argument on six questions, one of which was whether the City could identify any evidence in the record to establish a reasonable relationship between the requirements of the Ordinance and "any deleterious impacts caused by a new residential"

development?" AA 3297 (Trial Court's Order Noticing Vacation of Submission and Order for Further Briefing, p. 3).

In response, CBIA restated its argument that there was not such evidence, because the City had not done a nexus study. AA 3326, Plaintiff's Post-Trial Brief, p. 7 (referring to citations to the record included in prior briefs). *See also* RT 102-105 (including citations to the record), RT 116:20-27 (citation to record showing City's decision not to prepare nexus study), 137 (Rosen report not a nexus study; it analyzes impact of exactions on home builders, not impact of homebuilding on affordable housing).

The City and Intervenors for their part doubled down on the position that San Jose did not need to show such a connection. RT 124:12-16 (City), 110:10-12 (City: "But that's not—we didn't have to do that. The City does not have to do that because this is not an impact fee. It's not a mitigation fee."), 131:2-4 (Intervenors: "[T]he purpose of the ordinance is not to address impacts of redevelopment."). The City and Intervenors pointed to two findings in the Ordinance itself, and Intervenors asserted without further evidence that the findings were based on data from the Environmental Impact Report for the San Jose 2020 General Plan. RT 110:5-10, AA 3337 (City's Brief Pursuant to Court's October 19, 2011 Order, p. 5), AA 3310-11 (Intervenors'

¹⁰ The referenced EIR and supporting documents are not part of the Stipulated Documents and was not in evidence before the trial court.

Supplemental Brief in Response to the Court's October 19, 2011 Order, pp. 7-8).

Following trial, the court issued its Order Granting Plaintiff's Request for Temporary, Preliminary, and Permanent Injunctive Relief (Order) on May 25, 2012. AA 3348-3354. In the Order, the trial court applied *San Remo Hotel*, found that the City had not identified any evidence that the Ordinance was reasonably related to any impact of new market rate housing development in the city, and permanently enjoined San Jose from enforcing the Ordinance absent such an evidentiary showing in the future. AA 3353. The Court entered Judgment After Trial on July 11, 2012, AA 3355-68, and the City appealed on July 18, 2012. AA 3391-3395.

On appeal, the City argued that the trial court had erred in applying *San Remo Hotel* to the case, but did not challenge the trial court's factual finding that no evidence in the record established a relationship between the exactions in the Ordinance and any impact of new home building on affordable housing. Appellants' Opening Brief, Oct. 16, 2012. To the contrary, the City argued on appeal that "the pertinent facts are undisputed." Appellants' Opening Brief at 21. The City did not raise on appeal any question of whether the trial court had improperly shifted the burden of proof from CBIA. Intervenors raised the issue of shifting the burden of proof on appeal in their Opening Brief, but framed that issue in terms of the standard of review that they were arguing for. Intervenors/Appellants' Opening Brief, November 2, 2012, at 19 n.6 ("It is the

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