IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CALIFORNIA BUILDING INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF SAN JOSE AND CITY COUNCIL AND MAYOR OF THE CITY OF SAN JOSE,

Defendants, Appellants and Respondents.

AFFORDABLE HOUSING NETWORK OF SANTA CLARA COUNTY, et al.

Intervenors.

SUPREME COURT

JAN 3 1 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CITY OF SAN JOSE'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H038563 Superior Court, Santa Clara County, Case No. 1-10-CV167289

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

V. ARGUMENT

- A. CBIA's New Assertion that Its Claims Are Based on the Takings Clauses of the U.S. and California Constitutions is Fatal to Its Facial Challenge as a Threshold Matter
 - 1. CBIA's About-Face.

In its Opening Brief CBIA states: "This case is a facial challenge to the constitutional validity of the [City's inclusionary] Ordinance under the Takings Clauses of the United States and California Constitutions." (Opening Brief, p. 5.) Both in the trial court and the court of appeal, however, CBIA argued repeatedly and emphatically that it was *not* bringing a takings claim. This reversal in CBIA's position conclusively establishes defenses to CBIA's facial challenge that the courts below did not reach.

In the trial court CBIA stated that "the City's new ordinance is properly subject to "facial challenge" since this is not a 'takings' case." (AA 3232 (Plaintiff's Supplemental Trial Brief, p. 1:6-7).) Therefore, CBIA argued, the case *Home Builders Association v. City of Napa* (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 188, which upheld an inclusionary ordinance against a developers' group's facial takings and due process challenges, was

CBIA similarly argued in the trial court that "[i]t should be reemphasized at the outset that this is NOT a 'takings' case. (See also, Plaintiff's Supplemental Trial Brief, pp. 1-7, repudiating the defendants' efforts to contort this action into some anomalous form of 'federal takings' litigation.) Plaintiff does not allege that any property has been 'taken' by the Ordinance, nor does it seek "just compensation from the City [under the Ordinance]." (AA 3321 (Plaintiff's Post-Trial Brief, p. 2:14-19)(emphasis in original); see also AA 3136 (Plaintiff's Closing Trial Brief, at p. 19:10-21).)

Later, in the court of appeal, CBIA stated: "[U]nlike this case, the [Homebuilders Ass'n v. City of Napa (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 188] complaint was brought as 'a facial takings claim" and was litigated on the 'takings clauses of the federal and state constitutions" (CBIA Respondent's Brief, p. 52 (underscoring in original).) CBIA insisted that ". . . this action makes no 'takings' claims" (Respondent's Brief 41) and "[the City] invokes inapplicable cases (such as those involving facial takings challenges)" (Respondent's Brief 55)(underscoring in original.)

Presumably in light of such assertions, the court of appeal did not discuss the facial validity of the City's inclusionary ordinance under the federal and state takings clauses. Rather, it stated that "[t]he case before us involves neither an asserted taking nor a land-use challenge governed by *Nollan* and *Dolan*." (See California Building Industry Assn. v. City of San Jose, formerly published at 216 Cal.App. 4th 1373, n.6.)

Thus, CBIA argued below that it was not bringing its facial challenge as a takings case in order to avoid "ripeness" and "exhaustion" defenses applicable to facial takings claims. CBIA was successful in doing so, at least insofar as the trial court did not address these defenses and held the Ordinance invalid.

Having obtained an advantage below by disavowing a takings claim, CBIA takes an opposite position in this Court, stating that "[t]his case is a facial challenge to the constitutional validity of the Ordinance under the Takings Clauses of the United States and California Constitutions." (Opening Brief, p. 5.) As next discussed, CBIA's belated assertion in this Court that its facial challenge is in fact based on the takings clause is fatal to its case.

2. The Waiver Provisions of the Ordinance Preclude any Facial Constitutional Attack.

A regulation such as the Ordinance that contains provisions that allow the local agency to waive its application in a given case cannot be invalidated on its face under the federal or state takings clauses.

It is settled that "a claim that a regulation is facially invalid is only tenable if the terms of the regulation will not permit those who administer it to avoid an unconstitutional application to the complaining parties." (*City*

of Napa, supra, 90 Cal.App.4th at 199, citing San Mateo County Coastal Landowners' Assn. v. County of San Mateo (1995) 38 Cal.App.4th 523, 547.) When an ordinance contains provisions that allow for administrative relief, a court must presume that the implementing authorities will exercise their authority in conformity with the Constitution. (Id., citing Fisher v. City of Berkeley (1984) 37 Cal.3d 644, 684.)

In City of Napa, supra, 90 Cal. App. 4th 188, a developers' group raised facial challenges to the City of Napa's inclusionary housing ordinance under the constitutional takings and due process clauses. That ordinance permitted a developer to seek an adjustment, reduction or complete waiver of its obligations under the ordinance "based upon the absence of any reasonable relationship or nexus between the impact of the development and . . . the inclusionary requirement." (Id. at 192.) Citing the rule that a regulation may not be deemed facially invalid if its terms will permit those administering it to avoid an unconstitutional application, the City of Napa court held that "[s]ince [the city] has the ability to waive the requirements imposed by the ordinance, the ordinance cannot and does not, on its face, result in a taking." (Id. at 194.) The court rejected the developers' due process attack on the ordinance for the same reason. (Id. at 199.)

This Court should reach the same result here. Like the ordinance at issue in *City of Napa*, the Ordinance provides that the City may waive, adjust or reduce the inclusionary requirement if a developer can show that the inclusionary requirement would take property in violation of the United States and California Constitutions. (AA 706-707 (SJMC §5.08.720(a)).) The Ordinance also allows for a waiver if a developer can demonstrate that there is no reasonable relationship between the impact of a proposed

development and the inclusionary requirement. (*Ibid.*) Under *City of Napa* and the authorities on which it relies, the waiver provisions of the Ordinance preclude a determination that the Ordinance is facially invalid under the takings clause.

This conclusion finds additional support in Pennell v. City of San Jose (1988) 485 U.S. 1 [108 S.Ct. 849]). In Pennell, the City's rent control ordinance contained provisions allowing a hearing on proposed rent increases to which a tenant objected. (Id. at 4-6.) The ordinance required the hearing officer to consider "hardship to a tenant" as a factor in determining whether to grant a rent increase. (Id. at 4.) The court rejected a facial takings challenge to the ordinance, holding that any such challenge would be premature because there was no showing of the actual impact of the "tenant hardship" provision of the ordinance. (Id. at 10–11.) In so holding, the court stated that "[g]iven the "essentially ad hoc, factual inquiry involved in the takings analysis, we have found it particularly important in takings cases to adhere to our admonition that the constitutionality of statutes ought not be decided except in an actual factual setting that makes such a decision necessary." (Ibid., citations and internal quotations omitted.) Similarly, the Ordinance's waiver provision affords an administrative remedy that in particular cases may prevent the inclusionary requirement from being applied or having any adverse economic impact on a developer. At the least, the Ordinance's impact in any case cannot be known until it is actually applied to the particular developer.

By all appearances, CBIA asserted below that it had not made a takings claim precisely to avoid such "ripeness" or "exhaustion" defenses, for it argued that *City of Napa*'s "peculiar ripeness rules" were inapposite and any requirement of exhaustion of administrative remedies inapplicable.

(AA 3232 (Plaintiff's Supplemental Trial Brief, p. 1:10-14); RT 18:22-19:1.) This Court should deem CBIA's position below that it was not making a facial takings claim as a concession that it *could not* do so. As CBIA cannot show that the Ordinance will be unconstitutionally applied in the generality or great majority of cases (see *San Remo*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at 673), or indeed in any case, its facial challenge must fail.

3. The Ordinance May Not Be Invalidated on its Face Under the Takings Clause in Any Event.

Apart from the effect of the waiver provisions of the Ordinance, CBIA's facial takings challenge claims cannot be sustained. This follows from the nature of legally available takings claims. A taking of property may occur where (1) there is a physical taking of property, (2) a regulation deprives a property owner "all economically beneficial or productive use" of the property, or (3) the regulation "goes too far" based on the application of a set of factors, including the character of the government action, the regulation's economic effect on the landowner, and the extent to which the regulation interferes with distinct investment-backed expectations. (*Penn Central Transportation Co. v. City of New York* (1978) 438 U.S. 104, 123-124.)(*Penn Central*)

The U.S. Supreme Court has held categorically that property is taken when a government regulation compels a property owner to suffer a physical invasion of his property or denies all economically beneficial or productive use of land. (*Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council* (1992) 505 U.S. 1003, 1015-1016, 12 S.Ct. 2886, 120 L.Ed.2d 798.)²

4814-5910-2743v2 TPM\06429009

Unlike the federal takings clause (U.S. Const., 5th Amend.), the takings clause of the California Constitution (Cal.Const. Art.I, § 19) includes "damage" to property as well as its taking. However, apart from that Footnote continued on next page...

Otherwise, a governmental regulation may constitute a regulatory taking based on the application of the *Penn Central* factors." (*Penn Central, supra*, 438 U.S. 123-124.) In determining whether a government regulation of property works a taking of property, the U.S. Supreme Court has avoided any set formula, preferring to engage in essentially ad hoc, factual inquiries that focus in large part on the economic impact of the regulation. (*Santa Monica Beach, Ltd. v. Superior Court* (1999) 19 Cal. 4th 952, 964, citing *Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council* (1992) 505 U.S. 1003, 1015 [112 S.Ct. 2886, 2893, 120 L.Ed.2d 798.)

As an inclusionary requirement does not call for the physical taking of property, it may not be invalidated as a categorical taking. Nor can it be determined from the face of the Ordinance that its application will deprive any particular development of all economically beneficial or productive use of the developer's property. Also, the application of the *Penn Central* factors calls for a fact-specific inquiry pertaining to the impact of the regulation on a particular property owner. This Court recognized in *Landgate, Inc. v. California Coastal Commission* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 1006, 1016-1017 that unless a takings claim is based on denial of all beneficial use or physical invasion of the property, whether a compensable taking exists requires a "case-specific inquiry." Therefore, a takings claim to a regulation that does not on its face accomplish a physical invasion of property or deprive property of all value cannot be brought as a facial challenge.

^{...}footnote continued from previous page. difference, which is not relevant here, California courts construe the clauses congruently. (*San Remo*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th 643, 664.)

That is especially clear in this case. Apart from the provision by which the City may waive application of the inclusionary requirement, the Ordinance allows for developers to receive incentives such as a density bonus, a reduction in parking requirements, a reduction in minimum setback requirements, or the use of alternative design standards. (AA 679-682; SJMC 5.08.450(A)(4) & (5).)³ In conjunction with such incentives, the inclusionary requirement may have little or no adverse economic impact on a given developer. Any such impact cannot be known until the Ordinance is actually applied. Hence, CBIA cannot show that the Ordinance will be applied so as to effect a taking of property in any case, let alone "in the generality or great majority of cases." (San Remo, supra, 27 Cal.4th at p. 673.) CBIA's facial takings claim fails for this reason as well.

CBIA cannot contend that its claims are based on the takings clause because they are governed by *Nollan* and *Dolan*. First, CBIA stated below that it does not claim that *Nollan/Dolan* scrutiny applies. (See, e.g., AA 3138 (Plaintiff's Closing Trial Brief—Reply to City's Brief at 21:10-13). Also, as discussed in Section V(E), below, this Court has repeatedly held that *Nollan/Dolan* scrutiny does not apply in the case of generally applicable regulations. Because *Nollan* and *Dolan* may therefore apply only to adjudicatory, *ad hoc* conditions, a claim based on *Nollan* and *Dolan* cannot be brought as a facial challenge. (See *Action Apartments Ass'n v*. *City of Santa Monica* (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 456 (rejecting facial takings challenge and the application of *Nollan/Dolan* scrutiny to inclusionary ordinance).) This is true also because *Nollan/Dolan* scrutiny will not apply

³ Section 65915 requires cities and counties to grant density bonuses to developers who agree to construct affordable or senior housing.

to a development condition that does not otherwise effect a taking of property. (*Powell v. County of Humboldt* (2014) ____ Cal.App.4th ____ (First Dist., Div. One, A137238, filed January 16, 2014)(slip op. at 13).) As shown, a regulation such as the Ordinance that does not accomplish a physical taking of property or render property valueless will not, on its face, effect a taking.

4. One May No Longer Assert a Facial Takings Challenge on the Ground that a Regulation Fails to Substantially Advance Legitimate State Interests.

In San Remo this Court entertained a facial takings claim (San Remo, supra, 27 Cal.4th at 643, 672-673) because, at the time, a landowner could establish a taking of property by showing that a challenged regulation failed to "substantially advance legitimate state interests." (See Agins v. City of Tiburon (1980) 447 U.S. 255.) An Agins takings claim was amenable to a facial challenge because it did not require consideration of individual impacts. In Lingle v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc. (2005) 544 U.S. 528, however, three years after San Remo had been decided, the U.S. Supreme Court disapproved the *Agins* takings doctrine, and held that a landowner cannot show a taking of property by demonstrating that a challenged regulation that affects property fails to substantially advance a proper governmental interest. (Id. at 545.) Thus, after Lingle, courts may no longer decide takings claims by inquiring whether a relationship exists between the requirements of a regulation and its purposes. Instead, as shown, where a takings claim does not involve a physical taking or the destruction of the value of property, the courts must look to case-specific factors such as the economic effect of a challenged regulation on particular property and the owner's reasonable investment backed expectations. (Penn Central, supra, 438 U.S. at 123-124.)

B. The City Properly Adopted the Ordinance under Its Police Power.

Initially, CBIA alleged that the adoption of the Ordinance was "in excess of the City's authorized zoning powers and constitutionally-limited municipal police power." (AA 11 (Complaint, ¶ 34).) Although CBIA does not advance that claim in this Court, the requirements of the Ordinance bear a reasonable relationship to the public welfare and have been within the City's police power to adopt. Therefore, the Court should uphold the Ordinance, unless CBIA can establish that the Ordinance somehow conflicts with the general laws. That, as discussed in Section V(C), below CBIA cannot do.

1. Judicial Review of Regulations Adopted Pursuant to the Police Power.

A local government's authority to regulate within its jurisdiction arises from the police power delegated to it by Article XI, section 7 of the California Constitution, which authorizes a city or county to "make and enforce within its limits all local, police, sanitary, and other ordinances or regulations not in conflict with the general laws."

The courts give great deference to a municipality's exercise of its police power, especially in land use regulation. An ordinance restricting land use is valid if it has a "real or substantial relation to the public health, safety, morals or general welfare." (Miller v. Board of Public Works (1925) 195 Cal. 477, 490 (local government may legitimately use police power to enact zoning ordinances restricting certain areas to single family housing).)

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